### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSVALDO ALMEIDA,	)	
	)	
Appellant,	)	
	)	
vs.	)	CASE NO. 89,432
	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Appellee.	)	
	)	
	. )	

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida.

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
421 Third Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

GARY CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 256919

Counsel for Appellant

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. A grand jury indicted Osvaldo Almeida, appellant, for first degree murder in the death of Frank Ingargiola R 1. Appellant entered a plea of not guilty and later filed a notice of intent to rely on the insanity defense R 169. At trial, the jury found him guilty as charged R 206. Pursuant to the jury's recommendation of a death sentence by a vote of 7 to 5, R 239, the court sentenced him to death on November 1, 1996, finding two aggravating circumstances, 1 three statutory mitigating circumstances 2 and eight non-statutory mitigating circumstances. 3 R 282-94. Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal on November 8, 1996, R 358, and this appeal follows.

B. The state's evidence showed that around 12:25 a.m. on November 15, 1993, Louis Salmon, a cook at a restaurant (Regas Grill) which employed Mr. Almeida, went with Almeida in Almeida's car to meet some friends at Higgy's (a bar and restaurant referred to at various times as "Higgy's Goal Line Cafe" and "Higgy's Restaurant") T 1362-63. Sitting at a table in the saloon, they ordered a pitcher of beer T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> That Mr. Almeida had previously been convicted of (two) capital felonies, and that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification R 283-84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The age of the defendant (20), that he committed the murder while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and that his ability to appreciate the criminality of conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired R 287-89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Capacity for rehabilitation, good behavior while incarcerated, co-operation with the police, surrender of right to remain silent and voluntarily making statements, use and abuse of alcohol including on the date of the offense, difficult childhood and physical abuse, genuine religious beliefs R 289-92.

1363. As Almeida started to drink, the manager (Mr. Ingargiola) "came over, you know, and slapped the beer out of his hand, you know." T 1363 (testimony of Salmon). The glass fell to the floor, and beer spilled on the table, and Ingargiola asked Almeida for identification T 1364. Almeida said he had it in his car T 1365. Seeing there was going to be a problem, Salmon told Mr. Almeida that they should go T 1365-66. Almeida was "upset to the point where he wanted to kick the guy's ass". T 1366. After Salmon spent some time telling him to let it go, they went to Regas and picked up two co-workers, Sergio Hoggro and Eddie Cooper T 1371. Almeida then gave rides home to all three men.

Salmon kept trying to calm Mr. Almeida, talking with him about for one and one-half hours outside the car when Almeida dropped him off T 1373-74. When Salmon last saw him, around 2:30 a.m., Almeida was reacting positively and seemed calm T 1375-76.

Eddie Cooper confirmed that Salmon spent about one and one-half hours trying to calm Mr. Almeida T 1446. Cooper heard Salmon telling him, "don't go back and do nothing crazy, because it ain't worth it", and Almeida agreed. <u>Id</u>. Almeida then took Cooper home. At Cooper's house, Cooper asked if he was all right, and he said yes T 1447.

Mr. Hoggro testified that Almeida was mad and upset T 1468. On the way to Salmon's house, he said he was going to go back and shoot the guy T 1469. After letting Cooper and Salmon off, there was total silence in the car as Almeida drove Hoggro home T 1470-71.

Around 6:00 that morning, Mr. Ingargiola's body was found in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Salmon testified that, two weeks before, Ingargiola had told appellant and Sergio Hoggro that they could not sit in the saloon because they were under age T 1360.

Higgy's parking lot, which was in a shopping center T 1333-35. A gas station attendant working at the shopping center, and a paramedic who lived in the area, testified to hearing a gunshot in that area around 4:30 a.m., although neither reported the matter to the police T 1326, 1351-52. Death occurred between two and four hours before 9:00 a.m. T 1276. Ingargiola died of a gunshot to the chest from a distance of one to three feet T 1279-88. Two bartenders left the bar at 4:30 after drinking beer with Mr. Ingargiola, and he stayed behind to lock up T 1304-1305,1316. When they left in their cars; at that time the only car in the parking lot was Ingargiola's BMW T 1305,1320-21.

Salmon, Cooper, and Hoggro testified that Mr. Almeida told them that he killed Ingargiola: Around 10:00 a.m. of the morning of the shooting, he called Salmon at work, and said that he had killed the guy T 1377. That evening, he told Cooper that he killed the manager at Higgy's T 1448. One day after the shooting, Hoggro said he knew he did it, and Almeida said yeah T 1472. Cooper said that two or three days later, when there was a newspaper clipping about the shooting, Mr. Almeida was happy that it said there were no witnesses T 1449. Mr. Almeida was acting crazy when reading the clipping T 1459.

On November 29, officers arrested Mr. Almeida as he got out of his car. They testified that appellant reached down to get something from his car, then froze T 1500-01,1505-1507. In his car was a black zippered gun pouch containing the murder weapon T 1508, 1580.

The bullet that killed Mr. Ingargiola was a Winchester .44 caliber Black Talon -- the same type as found in appellant's car T 1573,1578. Over objection, Salmon testified that Almeida had told him

at some time<sup>5</sup> that such ammunition "makes a small hole when it enters the body, makes a big hole when it comes out, you know." T 1383-98.

Det. Randy Mink played a taped statement in which Mr. Almeida said: "And uh, he threatened to kick my ass the next time I come back, you know. So, I was uh, very upset after that. And uh, I got drunk later on, came back, shot him." T 1530. Before shooting him, he got a good look at his face T 1531. After firing, he drove off in a hurry T 1535-36. Asked if he was "pissed" and embarrassed, he replied: he did make me look bad and he did piss me off, but that still was no reason for me to kill a man because I am not that type of person that would just kill somebody for a simple thing like that. You know, I always thought that the only reason I shall kill somebody is somebody threaten my life or somebody broke into my house and tried to harm me, you know, but them beer, you know, I kind of had a lot of beer that night." T 1537. As he drove off, Ingargiola was screaming in pain T 1538. Asked what kind of shirt he was wearing, Almeida replied that he did not remember because he was very drunk T 1544. Asked if there was anything else he wanted to say, he replied: "Yeah. Besides being there, biggest mistake of my life, I regret killing him because I found out later that his wife is pregnant." T 1544. After further expressions of regret and remorse, the tape ended T 1544-45.

Also during its case, the state presented testimony from Mr.

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  The testimony resulted from questions whether appellant "ever" discussed the effect of the ammunition T 1383 (question prompting objection), 1393 (question after objection overruled).

Almeida's boss that at some time<sup>6</sup> he had a discussion with Almeida about killing someone: "He told me he had had visions of doing that before and felt no remorse or guilt for that, that he could think about killing someone and go to bed at night and not even think twice about it." T 1490. The court denied defense counsel's motion for mistrial regarding this testimony T 1492-93.

C. The defense case began with testimony of Severna Gamboa, <sup>7</sup> Mr. Almeida's mother. She and Mr. Almeida's father were from Brazil, but Osvaldo<sup>8</sup> was born in Boston. When Osvaldo was four or five years old, his father took him to Brazil, and his mother did not see him again until he was 12 T 1592. When she saw him then, he was very skinny, and it was as though "pieces was taken from his body," as a result of beatings from his stepmother T 1592-93. After a lengthy legal struggle in Brazil, Ms. Gamboa obtained custody of Osvaldo because the father had beaten him, and she returned with Osvaldo to the United States T 1594-96. Upon his return, he "was very sad, he was scared and in fear of everything." T 1597. He was not normal; at age 14 he wanted to commit suicide, stabbing his leg with a knife T 1598. He hid in closets and under bed T 1601. Because of language problems, he learned little in school T 1608. The family moved to Florida when he was almost 16 T 1610. When he was 17, he married 15-year-old

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Again, the state asked the witness if there "ever" was such a discussion.

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  The court reporter also spells the first name "Sabrina" in the transcript T 1736.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> During discussion of the testimony about appellant's family, this brief will refer to him as Osvaldo to differentiate him from his father.

Francis Santana T 1602. A year later, he moved back with his mother T 1611. While living with his mother in Florida before his marriage, he "was sad at all times, he would never comment on anything that, anything that would happen or not happen to his day or anything." T 1610. On his twentieth birthday, eight days before the shooting of Mr. Ingargiola, Osvaldo "was very depressed, looked like he didn't want to leave.... He didn't want to change clothes, he didn't want to clean himself." T 1605. Around that time, he "was always very depressed, he used to lay down, like he didn't want to leave anymore." T 1606.

Sara Tejo, a sister 16 years older than Osvaldo, testified that, after his childhood stay in Brazil: "To me, it seemed like he was, he had been through the war, like it reminded me of like one of the children in the concentration camp.... He wasn't clothed right, he was malnourished, he was skinny, he looked like a skeleton bones, I just couldn't understand that he was even him in there." T 1638. speaking to his ex-wife on the telephone on his birthday (seven days before the death of Mr. Ingargiola), Osvaldo came to live with Sara, staying with her from November 14 until his arrest on November 19 T 1639-40,1643. He was very down, not acting himself, depressed; he "appeared very strange, like he didn't seem like he was well in the head, like something was wrong with his mind." T 1640. He didn't take showers even though it was hot T 1640-41. "He appeared depressed, didn't talk very much." T 1641. His room "was dirty, filthy. looked like he, you know, hasn't been cleaned, it was trash all over, it was just, it didn't look like a clean room.... His appearance was like, like he was already dead, you know, like he didn't talk to me or my other two children." T 1642. At some earlier time, when he did take showers, she would hear him talking to himself in shower, like there was someone in shower with him. <u>Id</u>. Even before he came to stay with her, he looked "like a dead person" walking down the street T 1643.

Francis Almeida, the ex-wife, testified that during their marriage Osvaldo was "very paranoid.... He thought everyone was out to get him." T 1623. He kept his gun wherever he went; he felt safe with the gun, it was like protecting him, it was like a part of him During their marriage he was like a child, could not make decisions T 1628. He also wanted to control every aspect of her life T 1620. Although she obtained a restraining order against him during the summer of 1993, 9 it did not stop him from seeing her -- he would show up everywhere T 1621-22. On his birthday shortly before the killing, she got call from him. Id. "He was very disconnected, I knew something was wrong with him." T 1625. Because of "his whole tone of voice, I didn't want to get involved, I didn't want to ask him what was wrong." T 1625-26. He was very paranoid T 1626. Asked to explain, she testified: "You would have to know Ozzie to understand how he was acting. But he was very different, he was always quiet, but he was more than quiet, his voice was very calm, without any emotion, but he kept repeating Francis, do you want to get back together? Do you care for me anymore?" T 1626. Asked to compare his behavior on November 8 with his behavior two months before, she testified: "He was worse, he was disturbed. He was acting crazy." T 1635.

In addition to the foregoing, Salmon and Hoggro testified during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> He would beat her up, and once put a gun to her head while they "were just talking" and he said this would happen to you if you ever cheat on me T 1630, 1634.

the state's case about Mr. Almeida's strange behavior around the time of the homicide. Salmon testified that he was very sensitive to "simple stuff", such as being bumped while working in the kitchen at Regas Grill T 1410. He was not capable of letting such small matters go T 1411. Over defense objection, 10 Salmon testified that it was his impression that Almeida had been a bad boy so it was time for him to pay his dues T 1434. Over the same objection, he testified that he thought Almeida was prepared to face the consequences T 1434-35. Hoggro testified that he thought that, "in a sense", Mr. Almeida was mentally unstable, and kind of crazy T 1480.

The defense also presented the testimony of two mental health experts that the defendant was legally insane at the time of the shooting.

Dr. Abbey Strauss, a psychiatrist, testified that he saw Mr. Almeida four times, spending a total of eight to nine hours with him T 1655. In addition, he read a copy of Almeida's statement as well as depositions of family members and friends, a report by Dr. Lee Bukstel, 11 some police report and a police department narrative T 1658. Dr. Strauss testified that Mr. Almeida suffered from "post traumatic disorder, with an acute exacerbation, with concurrent alcohol intoxication, and probably also on the mixed personality traits and ... dysthymia." T 1697. Almeida also suffered from post traumatic stress disorder resulting from childhood abuse and trauma T 1670-72. His

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  "Objection, with regard to what Mr. Salmon thought." T 1434.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> A neuropsychologist, Dr. Bukstel testified during the sentencing phase. Experts for both sides during the guilt phase reviewed his findings.

"entire life had been one of violence. He had been basically abused violently by his parents. They had never taught him to stop and think things through." T 1660. "He also was extremely sensitive to loss. He had undergone physical and psychological and sexual abuse by many people over the course of his childhood." T 1661. In Brazil, his father made him sleep outside the house, they would not give him any food: both the father and the (step) mother beat him. Id. His biological mother in the United States caused him a great deal of abuse; she was very open about her promiscuity, and when he was about 12, she got him a prostitute, and he thought that was normal T 1662. The family was very dysfunctional, "and there was nothing good in his There was no validation, there were no people being nice to life. him." T 1663. Things got worse and worse T 1663. Kids made fun of him for being skinny, and he decided to become very macho, strong tough T After he and his wife separated, "things started to really tumble in a really rapid manner." There were cycles of "drinking and just rampaging and desperation and no meaningfulness and wandering around and looking for some connection where ever he could get it, and it culminated in the shooting." T 1666. Dr. Bukstel, who obtained a similar history of Mr. Almeida's childhood, thought he had some sort of residual soft brain damage T 1666-67. When the brain is under a great deal of stress, its ability to operate is impaired, and the individual becomes unusually sensitive to drugs or alcohol T 1667. Alcohol impairs the ability to think things through and consider ramifications of behavior T 1668-69. Almeida could not understand the consequences of his action at the time of the shooting, and was legally insane T 1659, 1676-77. His problems with his wife, coupled with the

\_ 9 \_

incident at Higgy's triggered a process that began "escalating, it's reaching a critical level, he then go to drink, then it reaches a hyper critical level, that's when I am saying he becomes insane, because that's when he cannot determine what is right from wrong." T 1706.

Dr. M. Ross Seligson, a psychologist, also met with Mr. Almeida four times T 1733. He conducted a mental status exam, a clinical interview, and an "extensive background history to verify and make sure that what I had heard from his was corroborat[ed] with the information that I had obtained from interviewing several family members, as well as ... information with the depositions and the police statements that I had also reviewed." T 1734. He reviewed statements by Almeida, Cooper, Salmon, Divani Almeida (the defendant's sister-in-law), Maria Almeida (his stepmother), Racquel Almeida (his sister), Tony Almeida (his brother), Phyllis Bernstein (who knew the family quite well in Boston), Dr. Henry Cho (who treated him for a broken hand), Denora Gannon (a family friend in Boston), Natasha Garcia (a niece), Amarildo Marques (his brother-in-law), Maria Dulce Valentim (who went with the mother to Brazil to get him) T 1734-36. The interviews included a fiance of a sister, Dave Umversal, Sara Tejo, Sabrina Gamboa, and Francis Almeida T 1736. He reviewed two police offense reports, a complaint affidavit, and Dr. Bukstel's psychological report and raw test data T 1736-37. He reviewed school records from Massachusetts and Florida, including a special program that through which Almeida obtained his high school diploma, the depositions of Drs. Strauss and Bukstel, and a Brazilian indictment of Osvaldo's father and stepmother on charges of child abuse committed on Osvaldo T 1737-38. He gave the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI), incomplete sentences, and inkblot tests T 1747. 12 "What I found was we had an individual who was throughout his life withdrawn, an individual who throughout his life was a frightened individual. He was distrustful of other people, was an individual who people described as being strange, peculiar, as an individual who other people grew to be frightened of because he seemed unpredictable." T 1740-41. When first interviewed, Mr. Almeida was polite but removed and distanced, "there was almost a robotic-like quality to him, that there was a sense of vacancy within him, that he wasn't really connecting." He had a blank stare, and poor eye contact T 1742. He seemed anxious and very depressed, even beyond depressed. T 1742-43. Dr. Seligson had some real concerns whether he was dealing with someone psychotic, out of touch with reality or going in and out of contact with reality; as Seligson began to establish a rapport with him, Almeida was cooperative, although shut down emotionally T 1743.

Mr. Almeida's history revealed that he was starved in Brazil and suffered extensive beatings T 1751. His stepmother and her sister "would take and strip Osvaldo and they would beat him. And there were times when broomsticks were broken and he would be thrown outside without food. The father would come home and beat him." Id. Even before he went to Brazil, his mother and father were both having affairs T 1752. The mother told the children that if they told the

<sup>12</sup> Regarding the MMPI, "it was almost as though the test indicated he was trying to actually fake looking healthier than he is." T 1748. The test results were indicative of someone experiencing paranoid thinking T 1747. As to the incomplete sentences test: "Almost, if not all of these responses had what I consider to be delusional religious themes." <u>Id</u>. Responses to the inkblot test were indicative of schizophrenia. <u>Id</u>.

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