IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 11 1997/

COURT COURT 1. W Carlos Caracter Carros

OSVALDO ALMEIDA,

Appellant/Cross-appellee,

vs.

Case No. 89,432

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

DAVID M. SCHULTZ ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0874523 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401 (561) 688-7759

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue 1 - Although not preserved, the prosecutor's misstatement of the law was not so prejudicial that it vitiated the entire trial, so a retrial is not warranted. Further, any error was cured and rendered harmless, in that both the prosecutor and the trial judge corrected the misstatement.

Issue 2 - The first two sub-issues were not preserved, and all, if error, were harmless because they were minor points of the trial and due to the confessions given by appellant to five different individuals. Appellant opened the door to Mr. Salmon's testimony about the knife incident, in that he elicited testimony that based on certain experiences Mr. Salmon believed that appellant was paranoid. The prosecutor properly inquired whether the knife incident was one of these experiences. Mr. Turner's testimony, regarding appellant's admitted vision of killing, was relevant to show appellant's state of mind and to explain his subsequent behavior. Mr. Salmon's testimony, about appellant telling him the type of wound inflicted by Black Talon bullets, was relevant to show premeditation. Whether appellant was a gang member was a proper subject of Dr. Seligson's cross-examination, since appellant had brought out that appellant had been beaten by a gang.

Issue 3 - The issue also was not preserved and, if error, is harmless, because Drs. Strauss, Block-Garfield and Macaluso also testified that in their opinions appellant knew the difference from right and wrong at the time of the offense. Further, it was a proper line of inquiry on redirect, because it could qualify or limit Mr. Salmon's testimony on cross, that he thought that appellant was becoming paranoid and that what appellant did was crazy.

• . • . • •

Issue 4 - The autopsy photograph was properly admitted, because it was relevant to help the medical examiner explain the nature of the wound inflicted and its effect.

Issue 5 - Appellant's motion to suppress was properly denied, because the law now only requires that law enforcement stop questioning an accused, once he or she had made an unequivocal request for counsel. Furthermore, the facts clearly show that the equivocal request for counsel was made after appellant was Mirandized and substantive questioning had begun.

Issue 6 - A mistrial was not warranted since the alleged outbursts were minor incidents which likely caused no antagonism toward appellant. However, it is impossible, from a review of the record, to determine what, if any, impact these incidents had on the jury, so this Court should defer to the trial court's ruling.

Issue 7 - The trial court correctly found the existence of the CCP aggravator. The homicide was "cold," because after the incident, which allegedly "pissed off" appellant, approximately four hours elapsed during which appellant's friends indicate

appellant calmed down. Also, if appellant had been in a fit of rage, he would not have left Higgy's at the mere suggestion of his friend, Dave Salmon. Nonetheless, during a four-hour period, appellant reflected about killing Frank Ingargiola, returned to Higgy's and waited in the parking lot for thirty minutes before shooting him dead. The fact that the victim "pissed off" appellant making appellant believe that the victim should die does not provide a colorable claim for a pretense of moral or legal justification. The court was also correct to instruct the jury on both the prior violent felony and CCP aggravators, since the prior felonies are a characteristic of appellant, while the CCP aggravator focuses on appellant's state of mind at the time of the killing. In other words, they refer to different aspects of the crime or characteristics of appellant.

Issue 8 - Appellant's sentence is proportionate, because there were two weighty aggravators, and the mitigation was properly given little weight. The mitigation was based, in large part, on appellant's childhood abuse, but evidence of this abuse came either from appellant's self-serving statements or from family members, who were biased and had no first-hand knowledge. Mitigation was also based on use of alcohol, but again only appellant indicated that he consumed alcohol before the murder, and even his statements are vague and contradictory.

Issue 9 - It is clear from the sentencing order that the trial court exercised discretion in evaluating the mitigating circumstances. Just because the trial court did not elaborate each

fact that were the bases of his determination of weight does not demonstrate that such evidence was not considered.

• • • • • •

Issue 10 - The pertinent part of the instructions given the jury, in regard to mitigation, tracks the language of Florida's standard jury instruction. This language has been previously subject to litigation and been upheld.

Issue 11 - Whether appellant knew what he was doing at the time of the offense is relevant in determining the applicability of the two mental mitigators. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse his discretion in allowing the State to cross-examine the mental health experts in this regard.

Issue 12 - Although it cannot be determined with accuracy from this record, it appears that the reason appellant did not make a statement was because he acquiesced to his counsel's repeated advise not to do so. Certainly, the trial court did not threaten appellant in any regard but was merely trying to determine whether appellant appreciated his counsel's advice. Further, the advice given by the trial court was either correct or was corrected.

Issue 13 - Based on the sentencing order, the trial court obviously knew that he was not bound by the jury's advisory sentence and did not give it undue weight, but instead sentenced appellant after independently evaluating all of the evidence.

Issue 14 - Again, based on the sentencing order in its entirety, it is obvious that the trial court properly performed his function of independently weighing the aggravating and mitigating

factors, regardless of his cite to White v. State, 403 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1981).

• , *, • •

Issue 15 - This issue was not preserved for appellate review. Further, appellant made no valid waiver of his constitutional right to protection from *ex post facto* legislation. Also, defense counsel never indicated that appellant was prepared to do so, nor did counsel attempt to put such a waiver on the record. Therefore, the trial court properly instructed the jury.

Cross-Appeal - The trial court abused his discretion by not allowing the State to present evidence of the prior homicides during the guilt phase. Such evidence was relevant to prove premeditation and to negate appellant's insanity defense.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO ARGUMENT BY THE STATE (RESTATED).

Appellant has failed to preserve this issue for appellate review. In order to preserve an objection to improper comment during closing argument, the defendant generally must make a timely specific objection and move for a mistrial. *James v. State*, 695 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1997). However, the defendant need not seek a mistrial if the trial court overrules the contemporaneous objection. *Simpson v. State*, 418 So.2d 984 (Fla.1982), *cert. denied*, 459 U.S. 1156 (1983).

In this case, the trial court clearly overruled defense counsel's first objection; however, after defense counsel's second objection for the same conduct, the trial court told the prosecutor, during a side-bar conference, to change the language of his statement. Such admonition essentially sustained defense counsel's objection. As a result, appellant was required to move for a mistrial to preserve this issue for appellate review. Having failed to do so, he has failed to preserve this issue for review. See Riechmann v. State, 581 So. 2d 133, 138-39 (Fla. 1991).

• • • • •

Moreover, during the side-bar conference, defense counsel interrupted the prosecutor's response and suggested that he read the standard instruction on the sanity defense to the jury, which the prosecutor promptly did upon returning to his argument. By doing so, the prosecutor cured any error from his previous comments. Further, defense counsel then had an opportunity to dispel any misunderstanding during his argument. Finally, the trial court further cured any error when he gave the standard instruction following counsels' arguments.

Furthermore, a conviction should not be overturned, unless a prosecutor's comment is so prejudicial that it vitiates the entire trial. *King v. State*, 623 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993). The prosecutor's comments in this case were not so prejudicial. The prosecutor initially correctly recited the pertinent portion of the insanity instruction to the jury. The prosecutor also ended this portion of his argument by reading the pertinent portion of the standard jury instruction on insanity verbatim. Certainly, his

correct statement and his subsequent correction rendered his intervening misstatements harmless. *Cf. Burns v. State*, 609 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1992); *Wuornos v. State*, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1010 (Fla. 1994).

Also intervening between the first and last comments by the prosecutor were the speaking objections interposed by defense counsel, where he indicated, "Objection, that's not the standard" (T 2041/24), and "That's the wrong standard" (T 2042/13). Additionally, the trial court's comment that what the lawyers say is not the law and that he would instruct the jury on the appropriate standard, was also made between these two comments. Further, prior to closing arguments, the trial court told the jury that he would be instructing them on the law, and that what the lawyers said was not evidence but argument. After making the misstatement, the prosecutor read the instruction verbatim and told the jury that the judge would be instructing them on the law. Finally, the trial court did subsequently instruct the jurv properly on the standards concerning the insanity defense, and the jury took these instructions into deliberations. Based on these events, any error was not sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a reversal. Cabrera v. State, 490 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

Finally, to the extent that the prosecutor misstated the law, since the trial court immediately cautioned the jury that he would instruct them on the applicable law and that they should follow the instructions of the court, this also would remedy any impropriety.

Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988). Again, the trial court did eventually instruct the jury properly in regard to the insanity defense, and the jury took the correct instruction with them into deliberations.

• , [•] , • •

The trial court, in the exercise of its discretion, controls comments made in closing arguments, and the trial court's ruling on such matters shall not be overturned absent a showing of a <u>clear</u> abuse of discretion. *Hooper v. State*, 476 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1098 (1985). If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion. *Booker v. State*, 514 So. 2d 1079, 1085 (Fla. 1985). Considering the above circumstances, the trial court did not abuse his discretion, but if this court does not agree the State contends any error was harmless pursuant to Fla. Stat. \$59.041, Fla. Stat. \$ 924.33 and the holding of *State v. Diguilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE 2

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING CERTAIN TESTIMONY (RESTATED).

A. Appellant now argues that Louis Salmon's testimony regarding a knife incident (1) was not relevant, (2) if relevant, was prejudicial or confusing, and (3) was relevant to prove only criminal propensity (IB 34-5). However, these issues were not preserved for appellate review in several ways. First, defense counsel did not object until after Mr. Salmon had responded two times to questions regarding the knife incident. Absent

fundamental error, a contemporaneous objection is required to preserve error for appellate review. *Castor v. State*, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Generally, objections to the admissibility of evidence must be made when it is offered, and an objection to a question after it is answered comes to late. *Schley v. State*, 48 Fla. 53, 37 So. 518 (1904); *Rowe v. State*, 163 So. 22 (Fla. 1935).

• • • • • •

Second, the objection was a general objection. In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, a specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial Rodriguez v. State, 609 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1992). court. When objections are not made with sufficient specificity to apprise the trial court of the alleged error, they do not preserve the objection for appellate review. Johnston v. State, 497 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1986). Here, counsel said after the second reference to the knife incident only, "Objection, a motion to make with regard to that as well" (T 1437). A general objection like the one made by defense counsel does not sufficiently apprise the trial court of the alleged error, and therefore does not preserve the issue for appeal. Tolbert v. State, 679 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Third, after defense counsel interposed his objection he had the burden to secure a ruling on it, and his failure to do so waived it for appellate review. *Leretilley v. Harris*, 354 So. 2d 1213 (Fla. 4th DCA), *cert. denied*, 359 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 1978).

Fourth, it was not until after Mr. Salmon had been excused and left the stand that defense counsel requested a sidebar conference

and moved the court for a mistrial, based on his objection to this testimony. Normally, if at the time the improper comment is made a defendant fails to object or if, after having objected, does not ask for a mistrial, he has failed to preserve the issue for appellant review. Clark v. State, 363 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1978). Granted, in Jackson v. State, 451 So. 2d 458, 461 (Fla. 1984), this Court acknowledged that an objection need not always be made at the moment an examination enters impermissible areas of inquiry and that an objection to an impermissible gratuitous comment made after objectionable testimony questions the several was contemporaneous, but the trial court had sufficient time to instruct the jury to disregard the testimony or to consider a motion for mistrial. See also Johnston v. State, 497 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1986). However, this case is different, in that appellant failed to move for a mistrial until after the witness had left the stand. This seriously impacted the options available to the trial court to effectively remedy any alleged impropriety.

• , ^{*}, • *

Finally, appellant also implies that the statement was inadmissible, because the State failed to give 10 days notice of its intent to use such evidence. However, section 90.404(2)(b)1, Florida Statutes (1995), does not require notice when the evidence is used for impeachment or rebuttal, as it was in this case. Furthermore, appellant never raised this issue at trial.

Notwithstanding the above, appellant opened the door to such testimony. Appellant's theory of defense was insanity (R 169, T

1248-49). In support of this theory, defense counsel elicited testimony on cross-examination of Louis Salmon that from previous experiences his opinion was that appellant was overly sensitive, paranoid and acting crazy. Defense counsel also elicited facts relating to several of these experiences, which caused Mr. Salmon to reach his opinion. On redirect, the prosecutor elicited testimony, without objection, that certain of these experiences took place after the killing, including an incident where appellant threatened Mr. Salmon. Finally, the prosecutor asked if the threat incident was the same incident as the knife incident. Certainly, appellant "opened the door" to the relevancy of such testimony about these experiences. Testimony is admissible on redirect which tends to qualify, explain or rebut cross-examination testimony. Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1992). Once a defendant introduces evidence which ordinarily may have been inadmissible against him, the State then is entitled to either clarify the evidence adduced, or rebut an improper inference that the introduction of that evidence has created, because "opening the door" to such evidence, by the defense, has waived the applicable evidentiary rule which would have excluded it. Such a rule is mandated by fair play and common sense: "[W]hat is sauce for the goose is sauce for the gander." Bogren v. State, 611 So. 2d 547, 551 n.1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) (citation omitted).

Be that as it may, a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and such motions should be granted only when it is necessary to insure that the defendant

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